The Historical Walks in Quchi

View from Mt. Zouzu
(i.e. elephant’s head)

Miyajima-Cho was once an important port on a sea route, where the River Niho and
the River Toida join the River Fushino which flows into the Yamaguchi Bay. At the
end of the Edo period, Shinsaku Takasugi composed a grand Chinese-style poem:
‘the river water of Waniishi flows to Europe’. The view from Mt. Zouzu is so
marvelous. The Waniishi Bridge at the foot of Mt. Zouzu was rebuilt from a wooden
to the first modern iron bridge in the prefecture in 1886 (Meiji 18) on the auspicious
occasion of the Emperor Meiji's visit. The iron bridge looked so modern at that time.

Fukuda-ya, Originator of “uiro”
sweet jelly made of bracken starch

At Mihori,
the Edo period

(modern ages) ~

Fukuda-ya, the originator of “uiro”, had continued its business at the present place for
more than 300 years till before the end of World War Il. The shop was on the busy route,
Hagi-Okan, visited by many people such as big groups of Samurai led by the Mouri
feudal lords to go up to and down from Edo for their biennial attendance on the
Shogunate, many writers and artists visiting Yamaguchi, worshipers of Koryu-ji and so
on. At its most prosperous time at the end of the Edo period, Sanetomi Sanjyo, one of
the seven court nobles, visited it on his way from “Kaentei” in Yuda hot-spring town to
Hikamisan-Shinkoin Temple. The buildings still retain their former images very well.

At Mihori,
in 1909 (recent modern times)

Mihori Shrine was founded in 1909 (Meiji 42) consolidating four Village shrines:
Hachiman-Gu in Mihori, Hikami Shrine in Hikami, Kagamiyama Shrine in Kanari,
and Mihori Hachiman-Gu'’s small Itsukushima Shrine. The sanctuary and Heiden
were moved from Hachiman-Gu, the worship hall and the washbasin from
Hikami-Sanno- Sha, the storehouse from Kagamiyama Shrine, the ‘torii’ gateway
from Itsukushima Shrine.

At Mihori,

early Heian period
(ancient times)

Many stones called stone-pies or stone-dumplings are found scores centimeters
below the soil surface of diluvial formations around the Mihori pass. The stones
are 2-3cm in diameter, shaped like a ball or an egg and colored in light
yellow-white with a brown center. It has been said that these were used as
offerings for the Ouchi clan’s North Star festival on Mt. Hikami, or related with a
folk tale about Kobo-Daishi’s (Kukai’s) clay pies. These look delicious but are

uneatable, unfortunately.

Nanmeizan-Jyofukuj

At Mihori,
in 1305 (middle ages)

This temple is believed to have been founded by the 22nd Lord Shigehiro Ouchi in 1305
(Kagen 3).This old temple of Rinzai-shu sect, nominated later as a Chokugan-ji temple by the
Emperor with his wish to protect the country, houses many cultural properties, such as the
picture of the temple painted in the Muromachi period (a cultural property designated by the
prefecture), the pagoda to repose the soul of Prince Rinsho who was the progenitor of the
Ouchi clan, a figure attending on Buddha, the graves of Lord Shigehiro this temple’s founder
and of the 24th Lord Hiroyo Ouchi, the stone snakehead at Mizugatani and so on. There are
also the tombs of Hoyo Ueda and Toyo Hattori. And autumnal leaves are especially marvelous.

Tomb of Kyohei Fukuda,
Superintendent of the Kiheitai

At Hikami,
In 1868 (modern ages)

Kyohei Fukuda was born in 1829 (Bunsei 12), as the second

son of Gonuemon Sogawa, a clansman of Choshu, living at

Ushirogawara in Yoshiki District, and later adopted by the

Fukudas in Otsu District (now Nagato City). From the start of
the Kiheitai army he was a member and later became Superintendent with Aritomo
Yamagata. He worked as Shinsaku Takasugi’s right-hand man and it was said that Shinsaku
trusted him most. His hair was put in his tomb built by his same-spirited fellows at his
residence in Hikami-Yamane.

At Hikami,
middle of Edo period

(modern ages)

This Kannon-do, was originally built in the middle of the Edo period, but
transferred from the Hikamisan Koryuji in 1884 (Meiji 17). The principal statue of
Kannon, the Goddess of Mercy, a prefecturally designated cultural property, was
made by assembling sculptured pieces of the same ‘hinoki’ wood. The huge
‘kusu’ tree behind the Kannon-do has an image of Buddha set inside the living
tree, sculptured by Saint Mokujiki, a priest on pilgrimage in the later Edo period,
and now protected gently by the big tree.

Old Mound at Hikami
in Quchi

At Hikami,
middle to late 5th Century

(period of ancient burial mounds)

The mountain behind the Yamane Kannon-do is home to the only ancient burial
mound in Ouchi, which is square at the front and round at the back. This type is very
rare in the city, and the mound is one of the prefecture’s designated historic sites. It was
made in the middle to late 5th century and rather a small one, which is 28m long, 15m
wide at the round back part and 14m wide at the square front part. It adopted the Kinai
style of a dugout stone room and yet retains the characters of the box stone coffins in
Yamaguchi. It is, therefore, an important historic artefact in considering the relation of
the local area with the central government in the ancient mound period.
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Yoshisuke Ayukawa was born at Hikami in 1880 (Meiji 13), graduated from Yamaguchi
High School and the School of Technology of Tokyo University, and took a post in
Shibaura Manufacturing Corp. (now Toshiba Corp.). Later he founded Nissan Konzern
(consisting of Nissan Motors Corp., Hitachi Manufacturing Corp. and others). After the
World War II, Yoshisuke became a member of the House of Councilors and etc., he
flourished in the political and financial worlds. His birthplace monument is secretly
standing at a corner of a private house near the Tosenji Bridge at Hikami. He was a
relative of Kaoru Inoue, a veteran statesman of the Imperial Restration of Meiji.

Hagi Okan
(Main road between
Hagi and Hofu)

Whole area in Ouch,
Edo period (modern ages)

Hagi Okan was opened in 1604 (Keicho 9), after the building of Hagi Castle, as the main
processional route for the Mouri feudal lords to go up to Edo for the biennial attendance
on the Tokugawa Shogunate. Later, toward the end of the Edo period many patriots such
as Shoin Yoshida from Hagi and Ryoma Sakamoto from Tosa rushed along this road. The
road from Hagi to Hofu is 53 km long, of which 4.5 km is through the Ouchi Area between ’
Waniishi and Hiiragi. On the route were placed a Japanese milestone in Hikami and a
large flat stone to set the Lord’s ‘Kago’ (palanquin) in Hiiragi. Okan pine-trees had ,

remained on both sides of the 4m-wide road till around 1945 (Showa 20).
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the Crossroad of Ouchi History - Miyajima-Cho

Kojo Nishikie (colored woodblock prmts)

‘Kojo’ (a big castle) is a poetic name of Yamaguchi.9 colored woodblock prints depicting famous sites in Yamaguchi are
housed in the Material Museum of History and Folk of Yamaguchi City. Three of them show the sights of
Miyajima-Cho area. It is said Choel Shokosai in Osaka engraved them from the end of the Edo period to the early Meiji
period. These precious prints show from above the Kasane-iwa (double rocks), the Itsukushima Shrine building soon after
its move to its current location, the prosperous wharfs on the Hagi-Okan, and the ways of life, about 150 years ago.

Mt.HIME

On the boundary of
Miyajima-Cho

According to the “Kotei-ki”, road picture map, written in the Edo period, Kasane-iwa was
worshipped in the Ouchi clan period as “Ichi-Ebisu” (the god of wealth) of Waniishi-Cho, and
double sticky rice-cakes imitating the shape of the rocks came to be offered to Kasane-iwa
and also sold. In the Mouri clan period, in Hagi also double sticky rice-cakes came to be sold
on the first open market days as in Yamaguchi. But in Hagi, it is said they sold them on a spit
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and that they might see their parents in the other world through the hole of the rice-cakes.

Shinsaku Takasugi’s Poem

SHIMOSENBOH

.K_.o

02@

Clay Pies

Tomb of Kyohei
Fukuda,

(D Ruins of Myokensha’s
Upper-Shrine

MIHORI
housing estate

Old mound at
Hikami in Ouchi

Temple

10, Superlntendent

HIGASHIMIHORI

NIhQ RiVer

Electric Operation Room

of the Kiheitai (P

Yamane Kannon-do Temple / /

KITASENBOU \

Itsukushima Shrine

At Miyajima-Cho,
in1864 (modern ages)

In 1406 (Oei 13), the 26th Lord Moriharu Ouchi requested permission to construct a branch
shrine of the Itsukushima Shrine at Miyajima in Aki, and built it at the site now occupied by
Yamaguchi Prefectural Government Office, but in 1864 (Ganji 1), to make way for the Lord’s
mansion, it was moved to its current location. The shrine’s Taho-to, treasure house, was made

in Chinese style

At Miyajima-Cho,
in 1863 (modern ages)

In June 1863 (Bunkyu 3), Shinsaku Takasugi was

summoned from his seclusion in Hagi to the

Yamaguchi Government Office by Lord Takachika
Mouri, when Shinsaku proposed to the Lord the foundation of the ‘Kiheitai), an
irregular militia unit. Later, he was ordered to defend Shimonoseki . It is said the
young Shinsaku, full of hope for his new venture, composed the following poem
viewing the range of Mt. Hoben and the stream of the River Waniishi.

of the Waterworks Bureau
of Yamaguchi City

At Miyajima-Cho,

in 1935 (recent modern times)

This building was constructed in 1935 (Showa 10) as a pump room to send
Yamaguchi City’s water up to the reservoir on the top of Mt. Zouzu. The building,
a registered tangible cultural property of the country, is the only one that recalls
those days with the stone steps to the main front entrance, the arched windows
and the scratch-tile walls. At that time, to start the water supply the city used the
riverbed water as its source at Mihori (now Miyajima-Cho) in Ouchi Village.
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A Monument of
Nigi Boys

Ancient Tomb at Ohtsuka

Birthplace of Magoshichiro Sugi

At Hikami,
1n 1835 (modern ages)

Magoshichiro Sugi was born in 1835 (Tenpo 6) of the

Ueki family and later adopted by the Sugi family. In

1861 (Bunkyu 1), he followed the Tokugawa

Shogunate’s mission to Europe before Choshu Five.

In 1864 (Ganji 1) as vice-envoy he attended the
peace negotiations of the Bakan Battle with Shinsaku Takasugi, Kaoru Inoue and
Hirobumi Ito. His calligraphy as one of the top three masters in Choshu can be
found at Saikotei Museum in Yamaguchi City.

‘ Hikamisan-Koryuji Temple

At Hikami,
in 613 (ancient times)

The Hikamisan-Koryuji Temple is believed to have been

founded by Prince Rinsho, the originator of the Ouchi

clan, in 613 (Suiko Empress’s era 21). In about 827

(Tencho 4), according to a legend, the 11th Lord

Shigemura Ouchi entreated to move Myoken-sha Shrine

to Ouchi from Washizusan at Kudamatu in Tuno-Gun
(now Kudamatu City), and nominated Myoken-sha as the clan shrine and Koryuji
Temple as the clan temple. This temple stores many cultural assets from Prince Rinsho's
swords to the temple bell contributed by the last 31st Lord Yoshitaka.

At Hikami,
in 827 (ancient times)

TThis shrine’s god Hokushin-Myoken-Daibosatu was deeply worshipped by the
successive Ouchi lords. Originally the shrine was in the mountain behind Koryuiji,
but moved to the current place in the Meiji era. The front shrine for worship has
the Ro-Haiden style, typical in Yamaguchi area. The Temple bell donated by the
31st Lord Yoshitaka has many characteristics of Korean bells, and it was
designated as a National Important Cultural Asset as a representative master
piece of technical art in the Ouchi period.

Ruins of Myokensha’s
Upper-Shrine

At Hikami,
in 827 (ancient times)~

The ruins of this shrine in the Ouchi period are at the deepest part of the precinct of Koryuii
temple, halfway up Mt. Hikami. In those days ordinary people were prohibited from visiting
the shrine for worship, and at the February service the head priest and his eldest son only
kept the shrine’s secret service. Before the stone steps there are ruins of the Komori-sho (or
confinement place) and Fudo-sui (or stable spring water), after which the name of Mt.
Hikami was taken. During the excavation in 1986 (Showa 61), a very rare stone guardian

dog was dug out, which is about 50cm tall and was probably made in the middle ages.

Birthplace of Hoyo Ueda
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At Hikami,
in 1770 (modern ages)

Hoyo Ueda was born of the Miyazakis at Hikami in 1770 (Meiwa 7), and later adopted by
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of “hinoki” (Japanese cypress) in the early Muromachi era, and is now one of the cultural

the Uedas. He kept studying literature at Meirin-Kan School of the clan, and at 47, by a

properties designated by Yamaguchi City.

SHINYATA

passion for education, he founded Yamaguchi Kodo (i.e. School) at Nakagawara (now

the public market place), which was the base to be developed into Yamaguchi

e Ouchi brunch office
of Central fire station

University. His birthplace is on the north side of the Hikami Bridge, while his former

residence is near Mihori prefectural housing complex, his monument of honor is beside
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Fukuda-ya the Uiro originator in Miyajima-Cho, and his grave is at Jyofuku-ji Temple.
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venerable old Heinojo Ueki
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Masujiro Omura
Monumentof Medicine

Legend says Geniji-fireflies in Yamaguchi were introduced to the region by the 24th Lord Hiroyo
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At Shin-Yata,
in 1934 (recent present age)

Ouchi, who brought them from Uji near Kyoto to cheer up his Lady who was homesick for her

with the associated Himeyama fable concerning a beautiful princess who was transformed into a
firefly. In 1935 (Showa 10), the Genji-fireflies were designated as the first natural treasure of Japan.

Monument in honor of
venerable old Heinojo Ueki

Heinojo Ueki was born in Hagi in 1861 (Bunkyu 1), got a doctoral degree in

engineering, and designed the Sabayama Tunnel. He succeeded his mother’s
Ueki family and contributed the Ouchi-Village Ueki Scholarship, the Ueki Aid for
travelling, a school building for science rooms, and so on, for the education of

“Lines sung by chance for Kojo, the Great Castle” the Remains of Samurai Toida’s House

Ouchi Village’s young people, by making Ouchi Village his own hometown. In
1934 (Showa 9) a monument was built in honor of his achievements. A children’s

NAKAYATA

club was named Ueki Class after his name.

The mountain range of Hoben links to China,

Myokanji Temple

KATANOKOUDA

The river water of Waniishi tlows to Europe,

Sweet fish our stomach fills, and sake washes insides.

Old Hall of Ouchi Village
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® In 1889 (Meiji 22) Japan’s municipal system brought the birth of Ouchi Village
’@\ combining the three villages of Mihori, Nagano and Yata. In 1935 (Showa 10) to

o o rebuild the first village hall the villagers contributed \10,000 and built such a
Sakuragi Shrine

in 1935 (recent present age)

e modern building with steel and concrete as not to be found in adjoining

- - @ Chugoku expy (toll roaq)

“Concrete Bridge” made in 1917 (This photo was taken around 1925)

Yamaguchi City. This is the only pre-war village office in this type of construction
still existing today in the prefecture.

the first iron bridge in Yamaguchi prefecture in 1885, “Wani-ishi Bridge”

Mt.Menbou

Group of Ancient
Tombs at Koda-yama




